By Dennis Berkla

n July 25cth in 1879, a remarkable

discovery made front page news in

the northern foothills of Califor-
nia’s Sacramento Valley. Within days the
story was carried by newspapers from Redd-
ing to Sacramento, yet the record of this
find soon faded to obscurity. Here is the
article as it first appeared in the Oroville
Mercury:

“A Relic of the Past”

While chopping up an oak tree, which
they had felled for the purpose of obtain-
ing lumber ro construct a cabin, James
Reynolds and Joe McCarty, two miners
working on Middle Fork of Feather river,
last Thursday, found in a cavity in the
interior of the tree a piece of parchment,
8x14 inches, both sides of which were
covered with Thieroglyphics, as they
thought, excepting four figures, viz
“1542." Naturally presuming it to be some-
thing of a curiosity, the gentlemen very
properly decided to preserve the parch-

ment, which they did until Monday of

l}‘ll\ \‘-’(ft‘l\', Wh{_‘ll d Silﬂ FI’Z]HCiHCO mean,

who was hunting in that section stopped
at their camp and upon being shown the
document offered $50 for it. The offer
was accepted. Tuesday night the pur-
chaser, who proved to be EM. Castronjo,
ot Madrid, Spain, reached this city, en
route to the Bay. We ran across him
while in quest of items with this result:
He said the characters on the parchment
were Spanish letters; thar he, being a
well-educated Spaniard, had experi-
enced no difficulty in deciphering the
writing, and informed us that it was a
condensed history of the wanderings, tri-
als and tribulations of three men named
Emanuel Sagosta, José Gareljos and Se-
bastian Murilo, deserters from the com-
mand of Hernando de Soto; that they
were, at the time of writing, the sole
survivors of a party of thirteen who ran
away from the expedition on the 24th of
November, 1539, and that this letrer was
written and put in a knothole in the oak
on the 29th day of August, 1542: that the
party were discouraged at the prospect of
dying in the wilderness and had no idea
as to whither their steps were leading
them. He kindly permitted us to look at

the parchment which was of a dark
cream color, the writing thereon being
casily perceived by the naked eye, its
color being that of a faded blue. Prior to
leaving this city, Mr. Castronjo had the
article securely sealed up in a tin can to
keep the air from it and intends disposing
of it to the National Historical Society
of Spain. In response to our inquiry as to
how much the tree had grown in that
time, he said the miners told him that
the ourer edge of the cavity was about
five inches within the tree, which had
grown over and completely closed the
hole.

It the parchment was genuine, it would
document a 16th-century transcontinental
journey in excess of 3,000 miles, presum-
ably on foot, and make Hernan de Soto’s
men the first Spaniards to enter the interior
of Alta California. Unfortunately, no other
“eyewitness” reports verify either the exis-
tence of this document or that it was ever
seen again. Withourt thatevidence, the news-
paper report loses much of its credibility, for
frontier journalists are known to have pub-
lished similar articles comprised of little
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The Spanish conquistadore was nothing if not a survivor. Did several of
these iron-willed men desert de Soto’s beleaguered 1539 Florida expedition,
struggle 3,000 miles overland and finally come to dominate some Northern
California Indian tribes? The circumstantial evidence is impressive.

Were Hernan de Soto’s Men the

First Spaniards in California?

If we begin with certainties, we shall end in doubts; but if we begin with
doubts, and are patient in them, we shall end in certainties.

— Francis Bacon

more than historical fantasy. Bur skep-
ticism must not preclude investigation.

What is at issue is the validity of the
reported desertion and subsequent journey.
Without the document itself, the only al-
ternative is to travel back in history survey-
ing pertinent and verified records that offer
some element of evidence supporting the
Mercury’s assertion. The first test is to rec-
oncile the reference to Hernan de Soro’s
expedition and the events preceding No-
vember 24th, 1539 — the date of the al-
leged desertion.

As Govemor General, Hernan de Soto
had personally financed the Florida expe-
dition using nearly all of his proceeds from
the plunder of Peru. His gamble was that
the fortune would return, only this time
with the vast land grants and political
power his new title conferred. When he
arrived at the bay of Espiritu Santo in Flor-
ida, his armed expedirionary force of nearly
one thousand was prepared to expropriate
yet another rich civilization.

De Soto had previously learned the value
of maintaining peaceful relations with the
natives — with an accord, valuable infor-

mation could be acquired — so after seizing
the local village he began sending peace
envoys to its chief. His overtures were re-
jected however, and survivors of that expe-
dition later recalled this event as their first
in a series of grim revelations:

Here it was that he first came upon the
traces of his predecessor, Pamphilo de
Narvaez, and unfortunately they were of
a cruel character. Narvaez in his expedi-
tion to Florida had been bravely opposed
by the cacique of this village, whose name
was Hirrihigua. He succeeded, at length,
in winning his friendship, and a treaty
was formed between them. Subsequent-
ly, however, Narvaez became enraged at
the cacigue for some unknown reason,
and in a transport of passion had ordered
his nose to be cut off, and his mother to
be torn to pieces by dogs.

Though aware that Narvaez’ expedirion
had ended in disaster, with all but four of
his men perishing, de Soto also saw that his
ships would have to remain in the bay of
Espiritu Santo unril another harbor could
be found. Therefore, he made continuous
efforts to overcome the chief’s enduring
hatred of Spaniards. He sent gifts by way of

the Indians that his men had caprured, but
it was to no avail. As Garcilaso de la Vega
later recorded, de Soto could not gain suf-
ficient confidence to obtain even a dia-
logue with the embittered cacigue:

“I want none of their speeches nor prom-
ises,” said he, bitterly, “bring me their
heads, and [ will receive them joyfully.”

Failing to achieve an accord yet still
forced to leave the chief’s territory to his
rear, de Soto decided to safeguard his ships
by garrisoning 120 men under the com-
mand of Pedro Calderon. With desertion
an ever present concern, de Soto sent the
six larger ships away, leaving only a caravel
and two brigantines in the harbor. He then
began his march to the north.

De Soto quickly learned of the difficult
terrain and the Indians' plan for dealing
with him. Some accounts of the expedition
state that the Spaniards faced annihilation,
being frequently ambushed (particularly
while bogged down traversing the wvast
swamps). In his book Hemando de Soto,
historian Robert Graham describes this
march: “Three days he and his men strug-
gled along, their horses splashing in warer
to the girth, the infantry wading up to their
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knees and fighting every step. Three days
of agony, of hunger, and of misery caused by
the myriads of mosquitoes which filled the
air; days of continuous fighting which al-
most maddened all his men.”

Those Indians that could be captured
were put in chains and made bearers, there-
by freeing other expedition members to
fight. When de Soto found a village suit-
able for resting his men, they would occupy
it. Though he believed this would provide
safety from Indian ambushes, it was not to
be: the Indians simply would retreat to the
safety of the forest and plot other forms of
ambush. Historian Graham’s translation
again provides detail:

strength and spirit in recalling that it had
been in this identical swamp, although
not the same pass, that ten or eleven
years previously they had routed and de-
stroyed Pamphilo de Narvaez; and they
at this time reminded the General and
his men of their previous deed, adding
among other impertinent remarks and
affronts that they would do the same
with their present foes.

From the account of the “Gentleman of
Elvas” this information was not well re-
ceived:

There whole company was verie sad for
these newes; and counseled the governor

what their predecessors had seen and
noted, it being a very usual custom for the
discoverers of new lands to leave such an-
nouncements for those to come.”

On ornear November 17, 1539, Anasco’s
scouting party returned to Anhaica and
gave word of their find. The discovcw, his-
torian Theodore Maynard stated,

shattered the morale of the army. This
would be their fate too. Why should they
fare better than Narvaez! He had been a
stout captain, but he had perished and all
his men with him. De Soto was implored
to turn back.

De Soto told his men that if they
“thought that they were in the posi-

The Indians everyday attacked
them, and so persistently that if a
soldier strayed but one hundred
paces from the camp an arrow
pierced him, and before his com-
rades could run up, his head was
severed from the trunk and borne
off to the chief. The soldiers bur-
ied the bodies, and at night the
Indians returned and dug them up,
and hung them to the trees. Dur-

De Soto’s men learned how

ferocious the Muskegon could be.
The grisly remains of the Narvaez
expedition only increased their
desperation as they were incessantly

attacked by “savages.”

tion of Narvaez, let them do what
Narvaez had done and build boats —
and suffer his fate.” Anasco was then
ordered to bring up the ships with
Calderon and his men. With that
done, the brigantines set sail for
Cuba and the caravel — under com-
mand of Maldonado — was ordered
to explore the coast farther west.
The expedition was  thereby

ing the twenty days they stopped
to rest dl'_' St)t[] Ii_‘St {"()Unccn men.

De Soto’s men met brutality with brutal-
ity. When their Indian slaves revolted,
many of the Spaniards, including de Soto,
were injured. Once de Sorto regained con-
sciousness, he ordered a mass execurion.

When de Soto had sufficiently recovered,
the march continued but their troubles on-
ly increased. They had entered the lands of
the Muskegon tribes, and now de Soto (like
Narvaez before him) was to learn just how
fierce the Muskegons — “first-rate fighters”
— could be.

Carrying bows which no Spaniard could
so much as bend they shot with terrific
force their crude but carefully con-
structed arrows. Some of these were
tipped with fish bone, as sharp as a nee-
dle. Others had flint heads, many of
which were serrated and caused ugly fes-
tering wounds. Generally, however,
these would break when they struck up-
on armor. The most dangerous kind to
the Spaniards, were the cane arrows that
had been pointed and hardened in the
fire. These would split against iron, and
the splinters find their way between the
gaps in chain-mail.

Garcilaso de la Vega later recorded that
these Indians wasted little time in remind-
ing the Spaniards of their history.

The Indians increased their attacks on
all sides, anxious now to break and de-
stroy them. Moreover they gathered new

to goe back ro the port de Spirito Santo,
to abandon the countrie of Florida, lest
he should perish as Narvaez had done:
declaring that if he went forward, he
could not return backe when he would,
and that the Indians would gather up
that small quantite of maiz which was
left. Whereunto the Governor an-
swered, that he would not goe backe, till
he had seene with his eies that which
these reported: saying that he could not
believe it, and that we should be put out
of doubr before it were long and he sent
to Luys de Moscoso, to come presently
from Cale, and that he rarried for him,
heere.

With the approach of winter, de Soto and
the main force of the company found suit-
able quarters in a village named Anhaica,
some eight leagues from the sea and even
closer to the village Narvaez' Spaniards had
occupied 12 years earlier. Once Anhaica
was secured, de Soto sent a party of men to
explore the coast for a suitable bay or inlet
where he could bring up his ships from
Espiritu Santo. They succeeded, finding
the same bay where Narvaez’ men had built
small boats in their desperate attempt at
escape. They found the graves, the skulls of
butchered horses, remnants of a forge and
other discarded tools and materials. And
Garcilosa de la Vega describes this search
for a message: “Caprain Juan de Anasco and
his soldiers searched in the hollows and
under the bark of trees ... to ascertain if
letters had been left which would disclose

stranded in the lands of the Muske-
gon, where, Maynard writes,

the Spaniards, though spared the fatigues
of the march, were incessantly beset by
the savages. Twice their encampment
was set on fire, and it was always unsafe
for any small body of men to go far from
the settlement. The Indians made light
account of the drastic penalties they re-
ceived when caught. And as death had
no terrors for them their noses and hands
were cut off. But ... their ferocity actu-
ally seemed to increase as consequence
of such measures.

Theodore Irving's translations of The
Florida of the Inca as well as the Relacam
Verdadeira adds further detail: the Indians
“never pretended to oppose any body of
soldiers drawn up in squadron, but roved in
bands about the forest to surprise foraging
parties, or lurked about among thickets to
cur Uff 'rll'l\i' Mr:igj_{lt'rs fl'l_nn d'lt' C'd]'l'lp.“ DUI—’
ing that winter de Soto lost 20 soldiers and
the area surrounding the Anhaica became
so dangerous that few ventured any dis-
tance “unless well armed and in strong par-
ties.”

Obviously de Soto's men had cause to
view their future with anxiety, caught in a
war they could not win. Of course the idea
of desertion occurred. And opportunity
abounded: de Soto repeatedly sent out
strong derachments on reconnaissance pa-
trols that could take seven to 10 days, often
going as far as 40 or 50 miles. Indeed, the
Final Report of the United States Desoto Ex-

pedition Commission confirms desertion as a
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Pl—{]blem: “Orl 56‘\-’!‘.‘Tﬂl accasions we are t('lld
that a subordinate officer coming into
camp with men missing was soundly be-
rated and dispatched in haste to recover
them.” And by the summer of 1540, deser-
tion was no longer merely a problem bur a
paramount concern. De Soto’s ships had, by
then, arrived at a previously arranged ren-
dezvous point, yet de Soto “found reasons
for not informing his subordinate [Mal-
donado] that he was near at hand.” Their
rendezvous was delayed for several months.

Even given the Spaniards’ difficulties,
why would a small number of men attempt
a 3,000-mile crossing of unexplored fron-
tier! Would not the obstacles have ap-
peared insurmountable? What provisions
could they possibly take that would keep
them alive while crossing a wilderness so
foreign and diverse! How could they hope
to prevail against the many hostile Indians
they could expect to encounter! Fear and
desperation have been known to prompt
irrational acts, which are not always as ir-
rational as they first appear.

Remember, Spanish explorers were quite
adeprt at their trade and a large part of that
trade was simply surviving. When Coro-
nado began his return to Mexico in 1542,
he left friars Juan de la Cruz and Juan de
Padilla, aide Andres de Campo and other
artendants in the Kansas region. After friar
Cruz was martyred by Indians, the others
set out to return to Mexico. Several actu-
ally survived, finding their way back to
Mexico some 10 years later.

Similarly, a Spanish pilot for Drake —
named Morera — was put ashore on the
California coast not long after falling ill.
Once abandoned, he apparently made a
swift recovery and after four years managed
to reach the Spanish port of Culiacan on
the west coast of Mexico. Another account
involves John Hawkins' men: of the 20 put
ashore on the northern stretch of the Mex-
ican Gulf coast during 1568, David Ingram,
Richard Browne and Richard Twide larer
claimed to have survived a journey that
took them — in one year — from Mexico
to Nova Scotia.

Though doubts linger regarding the In-
gram journey, the accounts of Morera and
the Coronado party are verified. Still, these
men literally were forced by circumstance
to make their journeys, which does not
explain why 13 men would leave the at
least relative safety and provisions of de
Soto’s party. Perhaps they found precedent
and inspiration in the narrative of Alvar
Nuniez Cabeza de Vaca — an officer in the
Narvaez expedition that had landed in
Florida 12 years before de Soto’s. Out of a
force of roughly 300 men, Nufiez was one

Governor Hernan de Soto’s expedition had been preceded into Florida 10 years carlier by the

cruel Pamphilo de Narvaez, who had ordered the brave chief Hirrihigua’s mother torn apart by

dogs. The Indians now harrassed de Soto’s forces mercilessly, The four survivors of Narvaez's

expedition escaped overland to Mexico; some of de Soto’s similarly beleaguered forces may have
decided to copy them.

of only four who survived. After his retum
to Spain, Nufiez recounted how for six years
they had lived as the Indians’ caprives be-
fore discovering a way to survive an over-
land journey to Mexico.

On an island of which I have spoken,
they wished to make us physicians with-
out examination or inquiring for diplo-
mas. -.. Th(‘.‘} nrdcrt‘d thilt we EilSL)ﬁh(‘lUid
do thisand be of use to them in some way.
We laughed at what they did, telling
them it was folly, that we knew not how
to heal. In consequence, they withheld
food from us until we should practice
what they required. Seeing our persis-

tence, an Indian told me [ knew not what
[ uttered, saying ... certainly that we who
were extraordinary men must possess
power and efficacy over all other
things....

In his [God's] clemency he willed that
all those for whom we supplicated,
should rell the others that they were
sound and in health, directly after we
make the sign of the blessed cross over
them. For this the Indians rreated us
kindly; they deprived themselves food
that they might give to us, and presented
us with skins and some trifles.

As many illnesses were functional, Nufiez
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and the others had remarkable success with
their technique. When they finally made
their escape by traveling west, word of their
medicine powers preceded them and their
arrival at villages was eagerly anticipated.
Greeted with enthusiasm measured in rev-
erence, generosity and great rejoicing, the
Spaniards responded by freely administer-
ing their healings.

All who heard it came to us that we
might cure them and bless their chil-
dren, and when the Indians in our com-
pany had to return to their country,
before parting they offered us all the
tunas they had for the journey, not keep-
ing a single one, and gave us flint stones
as long as one and a half palms, with
which they cut and that are greatly
prized among them. ... so they left, the
happiest people upon earth, having giv-
en us the very best they had. ... During
that time they came for us from many
places and said that verily we were chil-
dren of the sun.

Whenever Nuifiez and the others sought
to continue traveling, the Indians would
guide the Spaniards in the direction they
wished to go. For two years following their
escape, the party meandered west in the
company of many different tribes and Nu-
fiez’s record of their arrival in Mexico con-
trasts the influence of their wilderness ex-
perience with the reality of Spanish colo-
nialism. In many ways, they had become
the men the Indians believed them to be.

They were willing to do nothing until
they had gone with us and delivered us
into the hands of other Indians, as had
been the custom; for if they returned
withour doing so, they were afraid they
should die, and going with us, they feared
neither Christians nor lances. Our coun-
trymen became jealous at this, and
caused their interpreter to tell the Indi-
ans thar we were of them, and for a long
time we had been lost; that they were the
lords of the land who must be obeyed and
served, while we were persons of mean
condition and small force. The Indians
cared little or nothing for what was told
them; and conversing among themselves
said the Christians lied: that we had
come whence the sun rises, and they
whence it goes down: we healed the sick,
they killed the sound; that we had come
naked and barefooted, while they had
arrived in clothing and on horses with
lances; that we were not covetous of
anything, but all thar was given to us, we
directly turned to give, remaining with
nothing; that the others had the only
purpose to rob whomsoever they found,
bestowing nothing on anyone.

Thereupon we had many and bitter
quarrels with the Christians, for they
wanted to make slaves of our Indians. ...

Thus the survivors reached the Spanish
settlement of Culiacan eight years after
their arrival in Florida and without aid of
European technology. The journey was
completed three years before de Soto’s
landing in Florida and their story would
have been well known to the soldiers in de
Soto’s command. Indeed, Nufiez had
turned down a commission offered by de
Soto.

The foregoing accountsdo provide a con-
text supporting both a plausible motive as
well as the feasibility of a journey such as
that described in the Oroville newspaper
article. Offering further support is a thor-
oughly documented account suggesting the
presence of Spanish soldiers in Alta Cali-
fornia in 1542 — only 50 years after Co-
lumbus, more than 200 years before the
establishment of the first Alca California
mission, and corresponding with the date
given in the Oroville Mercury article.

The journal of Rodriguez Cabrillo — his
log of the voyage — is marked by numerous
reports of Spaniards moving about the Alta
California interior. The farther Cabrillo
sailed, the more often he wrote of bearded
men dressed in Spanish clothing going
about the inland country. For example, the
following entry is dated Saturday, October
3, 1542 and made at approximately 30°
north latitude [off Baja Californial:

After anchoring they went ashore where
there were some people, three of whom
awaiting them, while the rest fled. To
these some presents were given, and they
explained by signs that inland people
like the Spaniards had passed. ... The
following day in the moming three large
Indians came to the ships and explained
by signs that some people like us, that is,
bearded, dressed and armed like those on
board the vessels, were going about in-
land. They showed by signs that these
carried cross-bows and swords; they
made gestures with the right arm as if
using lances, and went running about as
if they were going on horseback, and
further showed that these were killing
many of the native Indians, and for this
reason they were afraid.

Much farther along the coast, the ships
arrived at the Santa Barbara Channel Is-
lands and again they heard reports “that
men like the Spaniards, wearing clothing
and having beards, were going around on
the mainland.”

The following day the ships arrived near

the mainland of what is now believed to
have been San Pedro Bay where, Cabrillo
recorded,

...they engaged in intercourse with some

Indians they captured in a canoe, who

made signs to them that towards the

north there were Spaniards like them.

After traveling two more days — about
36 miles further north — the Indians no
longer displayed fear of the Spaniards but
came to greet them instead.

We saw on land an Indian town close to
the sea with large houses like those of
New Spain, and they anchored in front
of a large valley on the coast. Here many
fine canoes holding twelve or thirteen
Indians each came to the ships, and gave
news of Christians who were going about
inland. The coast runs northwest-south-
east. ... They made signs that in seven
days one could go to where the Spaniards
were, so Juan Rodriguez decided to send
on a chance two Spaniards inland with
these Indians with a letter to the Chris-
tians. They explained besides that there
was a large river. ... The town is 35° 20’
[near San Luis Obispo]. The country
within is a beautiful valley, and the Indi-
ans explained that inland in that valley
there was much maize and food. Beyond
this valley some high, very broken sierras
were visible. They call the Christians
Taquimine.

Sailing still farther up the coast, they
were frequently visited by Indians who pad-
dled their canoes alongside the ships.

They are in a good country with fine
plains and many trees and savannas. The
people go about dressed in skins and say
that inland at three days distance there
are many towns and much maize. They
call maize oep, and cows, of which they
say there are many, they call cae. They
also gave us news of people bearded and
wearing clothes.

During the first week of November
(somewhere in the vicinity of San Luis),
Rodriguez Cabrillo made his last report re-
ferring to these Christians in the interior:

They wear skins of many different ani-
mals, eat acorns and a white seed the size
of maize, which is used to make tamales.
They live well. They say that inland
there is much maize and men like us go
about there.

Bad weather forced the ships to stay off
shore. Then, Rodriguez Cabrillo’s unex-
pected death ended the pursuit of these
Christians. Their origin and identity would
remain unknown.

Though there are no records of Spanish
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expeditions in Alra California during 1542,
it's conceivable that these reports referred
to the expeditions of Alarcon or Diaz, both
of which traversed the lower Colorado
River region in the years preceding 1542.
Because Diaz' party contained both horses
and dogs, his expedition might well explain
those first reports as well as the Indians’
reference to a large river. But both the
Alarcon and Diaz journeys ended in 1540,
two years before Rodriguez Cabrillo’s
northerly positions. Also, the journey from
the lower Colorado to the locations of the
interior Christians would require more
than three or seven days, especially at the
end of the dry season.

Then too there was Coronado's
journey through western Mexico
and the Yuman Indian territories,
concluded early in 1542. Because
the first report occurred in Yuman or
southern  Shoshonean  territory,
there is a possible chain of commu-
nication regarding the presence of
the Coronado party. Ordinary delays
in communication may have led
them to believe that Coronado was
nearer ar hand.

But again, the problem is that the
later reports of inland Christians oc-
curred much farther north, in Chu-
mash territories where they already
had a name for Europeans, “Taquim-
ine.” Moreover, the Northern Chu-
mash's primary trade contacts seem
to have been with the Southern Val-
ley Yokut. Amongst the Yokur, the
tribal name “Tachi” was prominent,
and linguistically this English spell-
ing of the word seems very close to
the “Taqui” segment of the word the
Chumash used for Christians — ap-
parently separated only by phonetic
differences of Spanish notation.
Also of interest is that California
Indian anthropologist Alfred Kroe-
ber noted that the Chumash referred
to the Yokuts (the Indians of the San
Joaquin Valley) as “Chminimolich”
or “Northerners” and that fully half
of the Yokut's tribal names end in
some facsimile of -imni. Further, the
Chumash’s northeastern territory was bor-
dered by the Tachi Yokut. Now whether the
Chumash would have identified the Euro-
peans by using a Yokut word or placename
cannot be derermined, but it remains a
distinct possibility.

Cabrillo’s reference to maize presents an-
other question. At that time, Native
Americans cultivated corn in the Colorado
basin but net in the San Joaqum Valley. Yet
the Chumash told Cabrillo that maize was
grown within that “very beautiful” valley
west of the “high sierras” and bur three day’s

journey inland, where cows could also be
found. At that rime, the San Joaquin Valley
would have been rich in game such as an-
telope, deer and perhaps elk, bur domesti-
cated cattle were unknown to the
Chumash (though, given-the exrensive
trade relationships between Indian peo-
ples, the Chumash may have known of the
closest thing to a cow, the buffalo). Finally,
both Spaniards and Chumash would distin-
guish north from south similarly. Though
the southern tribes may have been referring
to Coronado or one of the other earlier
expeditions, other evidence strongly indi-
cates that the Chumash were talking about
an area farther north.

The log of Rodriguez Cabrillo’s 1542 cruise along the California
coast is replete with references to tantalizing Indian reports of
Spaniards — with beards, clothing and corn — in the interior.

Indians, who had made conract with un-
known Europeans “many years” earlier, also
referred ro a distant tribe located at the
western sea some 20 days' journey away.
Zarate Salmeron states that, “They also
said that two days’ journey from there was
a river aof little water, by which they went
to another very large one that enters into
the sea, on whose banks there was a nation
called Amacava." The word “Anacapa” is
a Chumash placename. The similarity of
the two words indicates a working knowl-
edge of Chumash locarions as well as the
rravel times involved.

Supporting the idea that the Indians used
the placenames and knew the locations of
other distant tribes is Zarate Salmeron’s
record of Juan de Onare’s expedition of
1595, which traveled west of the Colorado
River and some five leagues into Califor-
nia. One tribe {prnb;tl‘\ly Shoshonean), on
seeing the Spaniards, tied crosses to a lock
of hair falling on their foreheads. These

T}mup‘h no evidence decisively con-
nects 16th-century Spaniards with the
Feather River region, two records specific-
ally refer to a latent Caucasian strain with-
in one of the Feather River tribes.
These references, undocumented,
first appear in turn-of-the-century bio-
graphic notes discussing the histori-
cal notoriety of a Maidu chief: “His
features were those of the white
man's — prominent Roman nose —
but hair and cnrnplcxinn that of the
Indian.”

A kind of a roval family seems to
have existed in this tribe, and the
captain belonged to this family;
and it was generally believed that
white blood flowed in his veins,
but of this no information could
be obtained from the tribe.

This ¢.1850s reference, in men-
tioning an extended “family" charac-
terisric, implieé that such a white
strain would have been introduced
several generations earlier — an idea
strongly supported by other unique
elements of culture specific to the
Feather River. First is their distinc-
tive method of identifying village
territories, as anthropologist Roland
Dixon describes:

The whole area occupied by this
group of four “tribes” was divided
by boundary lines, each section
forming a rude square, the corners
being marked by the designs of the
aburting tribes. ... The lines con-
necting these ‘corners were care-
fully derermined, and ... remembered
with exactness.

Alfred Kroeber believed this method im-
white surveying practices, yet
Dixon’s research involved traditions estab-
lished before the coming of the whites. The
practice was unknown elsewhere amongst
the Maidu or other California tribes. Kroe-
her may have also raken into account the
symbols used: three vertical lines for the
Oroville peoples, a “Latin” cross for the
Bidwell Bar region, an upturned crescent
for the Bald Rock people and three vertical

itated
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lines and a Latin cross for the Mooretown
villages.

Another anthropological record relates a
legend also unique to the region, told to
A.G. Fassin by Tome Ya Nem during the
interview later titled “The Concow Indi-
ans” and published in The Overland Month-
Iy during 1884:

This is the story of our race, as brought
forward and told to us ... by the old men,
the scholars and the priests of our tribe.

Wahno-no-pem [the Great Spirit,
caused Yane-ka-num-ka-la, the Whire
Spirit, to appear in the flesh unto the
people, that he might enlighten and turn
them from their evil ways; and this good
man began his teachings at Wel-lu-da,
where the white face has since built his
home, and which he calls Chico.

For many years he lived among our
people, teaching the young men and the
maidens many lessons of love and wis-
dom, many songs and games and gentle
pastimes; and in all these years they
loved him more and more. But he died,
and the lessons were forgotten; the songs
died away in the forests, and in their
stead came the war-whoop, the shrieks of
struggling women, and the groans of the
wounded and the dying; and the name of

Yane-ka-num-ka-la became a jibe and a
mockery all over the land.

This isolated reference ro the arrival of a
“man” who was the “White Spirit” appear-
ing “in the flesh” is exclusive to the Con-
cow. Also worth noting is the assertion that
he lived out the remainder of his life influ-
encing the culture of these peoples yet dy-
ing as an ordinary man.

A neighboring tribe known as the Yana
also had peculiar mysteries attached to it.
Steven Powers, who conducted his work
amongst the California tribes in the 1870s,
deemed it necessary to preface his Yana
notes by stating that they were “so early
civilized, and are so nearly extinct, it is not
easy to learn much concerning their aborig-
inal usages.”

The principal interest attaching to them
is the question of their origin. There is
an ancient tradition ... that their ances-
tors came from a country very far toward
the rising sun. They journeyed a great
many moons, crossing forests, prairies,
mountains, plains, deserts, and rivers so
great, according to their description,
that they could have been found no-
where except in the interior of the con-
tinent. At length they came to a

The eccentric,
obsessively
secretive genius
of Indian
ethnology:
John Peabody
Harrington.
Harrington may
have been the
mysterious
“professor”
who, in the
early 1930s,
asked a fisher-
man to help
him unseal a
cave near the
Feather River
that contained
rusted Spanish
chest armor, a
curved helmet
and a halberd.

delightful and to a timid and feeble folk,
where they conquered for themselves a
dwelling-place, and rested therein.

Powers noted another interesting detail,
pethaps as a possible corroborative detail
supporting the migration reference:

The narrator of the story states that Ma-
jor Reading once showed him an old
flint-lock musket which he had found in
possession of the Nozi [Yanal, and which
had been so wom by being loaded with
gravel that it was as thin as paper at the
muzzle. [t was not known how they could
have obrained it, unless they had
brought it with them from the Atlanric
Stares. ...

Noting distinct linguistic differences, the
modern anthropologist Robert Heizer crit-
icizes Powers for believing this story. Yet
the mention of a flint-lock is intriguing,
and provides context to an artifact dating
from the carly 17th century. Nonetheless,
the flintlock record remains little more
than hearsay, considering that much of
Powers’ information was derived through a
third party.

To the tradirional historian, this effort to
identify various elements of Indian culture
as possible influences from a prehistoric
Spanish contact is tenuous at best. Yet be-
cause the Maidu or Yana lacked a written
language, such contact only could survive
as oral tradition taking on the quality, over
time, of either legend or unique culrural
practices. Much modern analysis of the Na-
tive Californians' culture is, in the final
analysis, no more than educated guesswork
based on rudimentary records dating from
the embryonic stages of Indian anthropology.

Onc additional piece of documentation
solidly supports the suggestion of an early
Spanish presence in the Maidu and Yana
regions: the text transcription of an inter-
view conducted in 1956, recording the
1932 recovery of Spanish armor fromacave
on Deer Creek, north of the Feather River.
Deer Creek was a northern territorial bor-
der separating the Concow and the Yahi (a
southern division of the Yana). Subsequent
interviews with the same man were con-
ducted decades later, during 1978 and
1991. The informant — now in his eighties
— has denied contributing to the 1956
document or previously speaking of the
incident ourside of his immediare family.
He also pointed out that several details
were in error.

As the story now stands corrected, the
informant and two of his friends were pres-
ent ar the opening of a semi-sealed cave
during a summer fishing trip sometime be-
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tween 1930and 1932. They had been asked
to help a “professor” who had approached
them while they were fishing at the creek.
On entering the cave, the first objects the
informant and his companions saw were a
piece of rusted chest armor leaning against
fi’lt‘ cave \r\"dH l'd}"illg 'ﬂlUl‘lgSlL{[‘J d CLIFVL‘.’dn
}_’rﬂﬂ\"t’\l hL‘ImL‘t- A fL’“r’ {'L’Ct away was a
pointed axe head with a curved blade that
looked as though it might have been at-
tached to a staff. The old man menrioned
that the cave appeared to have been used
for shelter, for it conrained stones arranged
for a fire. He stated that the l.u'uf-r:».«ur, o1
seeing the armor, blurted out that it didn’t
belong there, that it was from Cortes' era.
Beyond those details, the informant said he
recalled only that the artifacts were going
to be taken ro the “California Museum.”
(The author’s efforts to locate these arti-
facts have proved fruitless.) When ques-
tioned, the informant knew nothing else:
he could not place the evenr into a greater
context and was not familiar with the Or-
oville Mercury article.

Regarding the “professor,” the informant
first recalled that he had been wearing a
dusty suit coar, but no shirt, and his pants
were wet to the waist with the cuffs rolled
up. The old man’s most significant memory
was that the professor’s glasses were the
old-fashioned wire-rimmed grandpa-type
and that the man had a peculiar smile.
During the 1991 interviews, the informant
further recalled that the professor also had
worn a wide, flat-brimmed hat, a dark full
beard, and was a forceful walker. Finally,
the informant said that this man had been
part of a small group the informant thought
was from Stanford University.

[t is quite possible that the mysterious
“professor” was John Peabody Harrington,
who was conducting field work on Deer
Creek during those years. Though most
linguists and ethnologists of his stature
would have lost no time publishing such a
find as 16th-cenrury Spanish armor, Har-
rington was different. Very secretive about
his fieldwork, Harrington often concealed
it not only from California linguist Alfred
Kroeber (who did more compiling of oth-
ers’ work than working in the field) but also
from his superiors at the Smithsonian, per-
haps our of fear of premature publication.
Harrington, a perfectionist, believed in err-
ing on the side of thoroughness and, unlike
Kroeber, was almost totally devoid of hun-
ger for professional acclaim. He wanted to
get it right.

Harrington was also known for his eccen-
tric field dress, often wearing a suit with no
shirt, for example. He also wore peculiar
wire rimmed glasses and frequently elicited
the aid of young apprentices in performing
his fieldwork. He was quite well versed in
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Maidu women. One Feather River Maidu tribe tradition had it that the chief’s family had white

PAGE 15

|

".‘;‘_-r, - y
Bl Y e T

blood, as reflected in their features. At least one other tribe in the region has a similar legend, of
a White Spirit who appeared as a man and taught lessons of love, games and songs.

L6th-century Spanish exploration and had
written a related article for The Pan Amer-
ican Magazine in 1930. Lastly, he had at-
tended Stanford University.

At odds with this conclusion is the men-
tion of a full beard and wide brimmed har,
neither of which Harrington wore. Finally,
there are no references to the recovery of
Spanish armor in what has been published
of his field notes (though much of his work
has not yet been published) and other than
Harrington’s, there is no record of field-
work conducted on that section of Deer
Creek during the years 1930 to 1932. The
“professor” may well have heen nothing

"

more than a “pot hunter.

Orhvl' than my own research, presented

here for the first time, the lare William H.
Hutchinson is the only historian who has
addressed the Mercury article. Titled “The
Oroville Hoax,” Hutchinson's informal cri-
tique challenges the newspaper’s credibil-
ity. He states that the article is the only
reference to the event. He questions the
miners’ use of oak ro build a cabin, Cas-
tronjo’s wandering into the miner’s camp
and the editor running across the Spaniard.
And how, Hutchinson asks, could the parch-
ment survive so long sealed in the cavity of
an oak tree! Finally, he suggests that the
story made for good filler on a day when
advertising sales were down, adding that
Senor Castronjo quite likely discarded the
patchment soon after discovering he had
been the victim of the two miners’ fraud.

[t is hard to say why neither Hutchinson
nor any other historian made a more meth-
odological, serious inquiry than the forego-
ing — more an amusing piece of case-build-
ing rhetoric than analysis. Though each of
Hutchinson'’s criticisms raise a valid ques-
tion, his interpretation lacks balance. For
example, oak s a more difficult wood ro
work than pine, yet after 30 years of exten-
sive mining enterprises (along with a bur-
geoning lumber industry), there would
have been few pines left sranding on the
lower Middle Fork. Further, oak is more
common to the region. Hutchinson’s dis-
missal of the editor’s encounter with Cas-
tronjo as an unlikely event does not con-
sider the nature of how news travels on the
frontier. By 1879, Oroville’s population had
diminished and in such a played-out min-
ing district, the local “word-of-mouth” net-
\\-’l]Tk \-‘;-'Ullld h'rl\"i;' l;'nrhl]:ii'rl_‘iricil”y Tilker] up
the mysterious parchment. Moreover, the
Mercury’s statement that the writer “ran
across” the Spaniard while “in quest” of
items is preceded by a description of the
discovery — suggesting that the newspaper
had prior knowledge of the miners’ find
and, possibly, its sale.

The frontier journalism of the Feather
River region was seldom precise and the
writer's particular indifference to reporting
the specifics of each event would seem the
norm rather than the exception. If the story
was fabricated to sell newspapers, it seems
unlikely that the writer would print the
name of each party involved — particularly
if there were real people behind the names.
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The 1880 census of Butte County lists a
James Reynolds as a 62-year-old miner and
resident of Mountain Springs in Oregon
Township (the district in question).
Amongst the ]. McCartys appearing in the
1870 census, one is listed in Butre Town-
ship and another in Marysville.

Finally, the scoffed-at notion that an oak
tree could function as a vault for some 337
years is not so incredible. Oaks frequently
have sealed hollows at their center and
some varieties common to that region live
far longer than three centuries. What bet-
rer environment for preservation than one
both sealed and resinous’

More important is the factor overlooked
by Hutchinson — Castronjo’s identifica-
tion of the “hieroglyphics” as Spanish let-
ters. Significantly, Castronjo specified that
only the quality of his education enabled
him to “decipher” the writing. [Indeed, his-
rorians such as Ignacio Avellaneda gener-
ally agree that a high degree of education
would prove essential to the task of identi-
fication, even for someone thoroughly lit-
erate in Spanish. But despite the quality of
Castronjo’s education, it would be unlikely
that he could have provided a precise trans-
lation because in Old Spanish usage and
phrasings are of a somewhat different idi-
om. This would explain why the Mercury
reported only those elements most easily
identified and legible — i.e., dates and
names — with the balance of the article
stating only that Castronjo referred to the
writing as a “condensed history” of the de-
serters’ “wanderings, trials and tribula-
tions” as well as such obvious facts as the
manuscript having been placed in the
knothole of a tree.

Verifying the three Spanish names men-
tioned in the Oroville Mercury against the
register of Soto expedition members could
help solve this mystery. Unfortunately, the
names are not listed there. This does not
mean that those three Spaniards did not
participate in the expedition, however. Dif-
ferent sources give different numbers, rang-
ing from Garcilaso de la Vega's 1000 to
Rangel's 570 (not counting the sailors,
some of whom were stowaways). Even the
catalogue does not account for those who
joined the expedition during de Soto’s pro-
longed stay in Cuba. In short, the register
is known to be incomplete and participants
are still being discovered. Complicating
the problem is that the newspaper writer
appears to have corrupted the spellings of
the Spanish names, rendering identifica-
tion difficult.

Considering that those specifics that do
appear in the article reflect a familiarity
with not only the practices of Spanish ex-
plorers bur also a pertinent date in the de
Soto expedition, it seems likely thar if fraud

was committed, Castronjo would have
been the only viable perpetrator — not the
two miners as Hutchinson implied.

Without the parchment itself or other
identifying artifact, it is impossible to verify
the authenticity of the manuscript, how-
ever compelling the circumstantial evi-
dence. Was the story a hoax designed to
drum up a little frontier notoriety? Con-
ceivably. To argue in the newspaper's de-
fense would be naive, burt it is equally naive
to draw conclusions based on anything less
than a thorough and objective analysis. To
discount possibility because of probability
is a disservice to history for the sake of
expedience or amusement at the expense of
truth. Certainly the converging nature of
the “circumstantial” evidence suggests that
some element of truth is involved in the
Mercury article, though many questions re-
main unanswered or unanswerable. History
requires better evidence. My own 14-year
search of every major archive in Spain has
reported no record of the parchment. What
became of Sefior Castronjo and the manu-
script remains an enigma of early California
history. Perhaps Alvar Nufiez best explains
the uncertain disposition of events. Not
long after his return to Spain, in an audi-
ence with the King, Nufiez offered this
prefatory statement:

Although ambition and love of acrion
are common to all, as to the advantages
that each may gain, there are grear ine-
qualities of fortune, the result not of con-
duct, but only accident, nor caused by
the fault of any one, but coming in the
providence of God and solely by His will.
Hence to one arises deeds more signal
than he thought to achieve; to another
the opposite in every way occurs, so that
he can show no higher proof of purpose
than his effort, and at times even this is so
concealed that it cannor of itself appear.
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From author to reader: This work started
routinely but as [ pursued it further, explor-
ing different avenues, each new piece of
information made the project ever more
tantalizing. It's my hope that eventually
some relevant artifact will surface and that
this work will serve as a context within
which to place it.

I've spoken with many experts in a wide
variety of fields, checked and rechecked
sources, verified interpretations and updat-
ed current information on a variety of sub-
jects within an array of academic disci-
plines. Among those | wish to thank for
generously giving their time, interest and
patience are: W. Michael Mathes, Univer-
sity of San Francisco; Bill Shipley, UC-

Santa Cruz; Russell Ultan; Francis Riddell;
Bert Gerow, lgnacio Avellaneda, Univer-
sity of Florida; Elaine Mills, Smithsonian
Institution; Cathryn Calahan and Leanne
Hinron, UC-Berkeley; Vincent Gola, CSU-
Humboldt; Lowell Bean, CSU-Hayward;
Bill Jones, the late William Hutchinson
and the late Clarence Mclntosh, CSU-
Chico; Gerald Johnson, CSU-Sacramento;
John Marr; Arthur Harrington; and many,
many others.

The most comprehensive resource per-
raining to Hernan de Soto’s “conquest” of
Florida is John Swanton's Final Report of the
United States De Soto Expedition Commission
— exhaustive research involving many de-
tails of the expedition. The amateur histo-
rian will doubtless find the many transla-
tions more enjoyable reading, and heading
the list is Garcilaso de la Vega’s The Florida
of the Inca. Though his work was written
years after the event, Vega’s sources in-
cluded several members of the expedition
and is by far the most detailed of the ac-
counts. | also recommend Theadore May-
nard’s De Soto and the Conquistadores, as
much of it is delightful reading. Finishing
the list would be the Gentleman of Elvas’
The Discovery and Conquest of Terva Florida
from Hakluyt's Voyages.

Regarding Alvar Nufiez — whose re-
markable story is a must for any scholar of
eatly American history — 1 highly recom-
mend Fanny Bandlier’s translation, The
Narrative of Alvar Nusiez Cabeza de Vaca
and Buckingham Smith'’s The Relation of
Alvar Nusiey Cabeza de Vaca.

On Coronado’s expedition and Rodriguez
Cabrillo's voyage, see George Winship’s
The Coromado Expedition, Herbert Bolton's
Coronado: Knight of the Pueblos and Plains
and Henry Raup Wagner's Spanish Voyages
to the Northwest Coast of America in the
Sixteenth Century.

For further reading on the Concow, or
Foothill Maidu, the various works of Ro-
land Dixon, A.L. Kroeber and EM. Loeh
are excellenr, as is Francis Riddell’s “Maidu
and Koncow” essay, which appears in Rob-
ert Heizer's California (8) volume from the
Indians Of Novth America. Lastly, John Har-
rington’s field notes are a fascinating reflec-
tion — in script — of both obsession and
genius. — DB

Dennis Berkla, on the faculty at Columbia
Pacific University, has also worked as a
research historian for the California De-
partment of Parks and Recreation, pub-
lished a book on Chico community history
and produced a five-part educational tele-
vision series on [9th-century California
history. He is currently doing research on a
Feather River or Concow Maidu chief,
appear later this year in The Californians.




